

# CITY OF BELLAIRE TEXAS

# BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT JUNE 15, 2017

Council Chamber Regular Session 7:00 PM

# 7008 S. RICE AVENUE BELLAIRE, TX 77401

#### 1. CALL TO ORDER

Chairman Avioli called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM.

# 2. PLEDGE TO THE FLAG (US AND TEXAS)

Texas Pledge: (Honor the Texas Flag: I pledge allegiance to thee, Texas one state under God, one and indivisible).

Board Member Mandel led the Board and the public in the pledges to both flags.

# 3. CERTIFICATION OF A QUORUM

Chairman Avioli announced that a quorum was present, consisting of the following members:

Attendee Name	Title	Status	Arrived
James P. Avioli Sr.	Chair	Present	
Amar Raval	Board Member	Present	
Debbie Karakowsky	Board Member	Present	
Samir Sinha	Board Member	Present	
Jed Mandel	Board Member	Present	
Jill Almaguer	Vice Chair	Present	
William Stone	Board Member	Present	
ChaVonne Sampson	Development Services Manager	Present	
John McDonald	Director	Present	
Ashley Parcus	Secretary	Present	
Gus E. Pappas	Council Member	Present	

# 4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A. Board of Adjustment - Regular Session - Jan 19, 2017 7:00 PM

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS]
MOVER: Jill Almaguer, Vice Chair
SECONDER: William Stone, Board Member

AYES: Avioli Sr., Raval, Karakowsky, Sinha, Mandel, Almaguer, Stone

#### 5. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

There was no unfinished business.

Chairman Avioli mentioned that a copy of the recently amended Rules of Procedure had been provided to each of the Board Members.

City of Bellaire Texas Generated: 7/17/2017 2:11 PM Page 1

# 6. REPORTS FROM OFFICERS, COMMITTEES, SUB-COMMITTEES AND COMMUNICATIONS BOARD MEMBERS HAVE HAD OUTSIDE THE MEETING

There were no reports or communications.

# 7. READING OF THE STANDARDS FROM SECTION 24-704, BELLAIRE CODE OF ORDINANCES

Ms. Sampson read the Standards required for the granting of a variance from Section 24-704 of the City of Bellaire Code of Ordinances.

#### 8. NEW BUSINESS

# A. Public Hearings

Docket # BOA-2017-01-Application for a variance request filed by Steven Gee, Project Manager, Houston Independent School District, from Chapter 24, Planning and Zoning, Section 24-525 B. (1) d. of the City of Bellaire Code of Ordinances, to allow for a maximum building height of 60 feet on a portion of the main building centrally located within the campus, in lieu of the current allowable building height of 45 feet. The property is addressed as 5100 Maple Street, but is more commonly known as Bellaire High School. The school is located in the R-1 Zoning District.

Chairman Avioli reviewed the public hearing process with the Board and the public.

RESULT: APPROVED WITH CONDITIONS [UNANIMOUS]

**AYES:** Avioli Sr., Raval, Karakowsky, Sinha, Mandel, Almaguer,

Stone

# i. Presentation by the Applicant

Sam Savage, PBK Architects-Mr. Savage explained that Houston Independent School District (HISD) recieved the funds to rebuild Bellaire High School through the 2012 Bond Program. He added that they would like to rebuild on the current site, which is the smallest site out of all of HISD's properties. Therefore, they are looking to relocate the baseball field to the old Gordon Elementary/Mandarin site in order to help free up some space at 5100 Maple Street. Due to the lack in size of the property, Mr. Savage explained that they are asking for a variance in height of 60 feet for the Learning Center, as well as 50 feet for the fly loft. He then showed proposed site plans for the high school, as well as the existing height site plan to better explain the two areas of the building that they are requesting a variance from. Mr. Savage stated that these two areas are well off the front street and would be required to follow the height-setback plane that is present in the regulations for the City's downtown areas. He stated that most of the building will be lower than the 45 feet allowed by right, in an effort to be good neighbors to the surrounding residents. He then showed a proposed site plan for the baseball field and added that it will also require a height variance of 60 feet for the netting. Mr. Savage then reviewed each of the standards required for the granting of a variance and stated that he felt as though the application met each one.

Chairman Avioli then pointed out that although the applicant mentioned a 60 foot variance needed at the former Gordon Elementary site, the application does not include a request for this variance. He clarified that the only requests made within the application are with regard to the height variance and lot coverage at 5100 Maple Street.

Generated: 7/17/2017 2:11 PM

# ii. Presentation by the City

Ms. Sampson informed the Board that the applicant is requesting a variance from Sec. 24-525, School and churches in residential areas, B. (1) (d) of the City of Bellaire Code of Ordinances to increase the maximum building height regulations from the current 45 feet limit to 60 feet (15 feet variance). She added that the address of the property is 5100 Maple Street, and that it is located within the R-1 Zoning District. She also mentioned that the height-setback plane that is used within the City's commercial districts will be applied to address the development of property adjacent to residential zoned areas. Ms. Sampson stated that Bellaire High School was originally built in 1955, and that HISD, under the authority of the Texas Education Agency, is charged with the provision of public education services for this region. Ms. Sampson mentioned that HISD's mission and ability to provide these educational services should be taken into consideration when reviewing this application. She informed the Board that concurrently the applicant has filed an application for a Specific Use Permit to construct a new high school on the current site and that the Planning and Zoning Commission will hold a public hearing on that request on June 13, 2017 and consider this item at their July meeting. She informed the Board that a legal notice and mail outs for both of the variance requests were published and mailed on May 30th and 31st, respectively. Ms. Sampson then reviewed each of the standards that must be present in order for the Board to grant the variance and stated that upon review and evaluation of the application, all areas of the criteria are met, and it is in the Director of Development Services' opinion that the request is not in conflict with the standards as outlined in Article VII, Division 1, Section 24-704. Therefore, the Director offers no objections to the granting of this variance.

- iii. Public Comments: Names of those desiring to comment shall come from sign-up list and shall be limited to six (6) minutes per speaker, with extensions in two (2) minute increments as approved by majority vote of the Board members present.
- \*Chairman Avioli allowed the speakers to address both the height variance and the lot coverage variance at the same time.

**Gigi White, 4515 Bellaire Blvd**-Ms. White stated that she is in support of the variance, and that there are unusual circumstances that accompany this property. She added that the school is deficient based on today's standards, and that HISD has come up with a creative plan in using two existing properties to make it work. Ms. White mentioned that the hardship is based on the proeprty itself and that the new development will offer an improved traffic plan compared to what is in existence now.

**Debbie Campbell, 5227 Holly**-Ms. Campbell stated that she has been a resident of Bellaire for 27 years, is a member of the Project Advisory Team (PAT), and also works at the high school. She added that living near the school is definitely hard, but without the variances the school district will not be able to build the school that that the kids need. She also mentioned that the site is unmanageable without the lot coverage variance.

**Todd Blitzer,5416 Patrick Henry**-Mr. Blitzer informed the Board that he is a member of the PAT and that this project has been a hard fought battle for the past 4 years. He added that the school district's goal was to avoid having to move the students during construction and they have come up with a collaborative solution that he hopes they will be able to move forward with. Mr. Blitzer stated that there will be no increase in the size of the school, and that it is already the largest high school within HISD that is located on the smallest site. He mentioned the fact that all

Generated: 7/17/2017 2:11 PM

parking is going to be housed on the property, which creates difficulties on the site that need to be dealt with through variances.

**Chris Young, 5115 Valerie**-Mr. Young was concerned that an increase in height would cause an decrease in the amount of privacy that he and his family have, as well as a decrease in property value. He added that buses will basically be going through his backyard. Mr. Young was concerned that the granting of a height variance would not be specific to a certain area/building and could result in a 60 foot height anywhere on the property. He mentioned that very few children from the area actually attend the school, and also pointed out that there are already drainage issues on Valerie Street, which he is concerned will increase with an increase in density.

**Lynn McBee, 5314 Evergreen**-Ms. McBee mentioned that the parking garage will most likely be moved to the north after the comments made at the public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission for the granting of two specific use permits. She added that a condition should be put on the variances requring that there be an enrollment cap on 2,500 students, and mentioned that the variances should not be granted based on the amount of enrollment as the City does not want or need growth. Ms. McBee also suggested that the surface parking be elminated to decrease the amount of lot coverage on the site. She stated that this is a residential zoning district, not a commercial zoning district and urged the Board to deny the variances and send it back to PBK to redesign the site for 2,500 students.

Chairman Avioli then stated that a written comment was also provided by a Mr. David Falloure, and read as follows:

"I support all efforts to realize the plans for the high school rebuild as put forth in May 2017. The high school is in desperate need of any variance to foster reuild success. The rebuild will benefit Bellaire and students."

#### iv. Rebuttal by the Applicant

**Sam Savage**-Mr. Savage reiterated they would like to keep all parts of the building which front Valerie as low as possible, but can increase the height to 45 feet by right, if need be. He mentioned the comment about a lack of privacy and stated that they do not plan to have windows in such places where it would allow for anyone to be able to see into a nearby residence. He also mentioned that the height-setback plane, which will be required, will increase the setback from the surrounding single-family residences. He added that the drainage in the area will be improved and that the plan is to decrease the number of students enrolled to 3,100. Mr. Savage also assured the public and the Board that if the Commission grants the variances for the specific areas in which they are requesting them, the school district will not be able to, nor would they want to, change the site plan to increase the height in any other areas of the building. He added that if it did happen to change, they would come back before the Board for another variance.

**Steven Gee, Project Manager, HISD-**Mr. Gee added that the appropriate amount of buffers will be installed in order to conceal as much of the site as possible.

#### v. Questions by the Board

Board Member Stone asked if the football field would be open to the public.

Mr. Gee stated that it will be fenced, but that the public will have access to it when it is not in use by the school district.

Board Member Stone asked for clarifcation on what buildings will be 60 feet tall.

Mr. Savage explained that it is all one building, but two areas will require additional height, the learning center at 60 feet, and the fly loft, which is part of the auditorium, at 50 feet.

Board Member Karakowsky pointed out that she understood that without an increase in height on the learning center it would decrease the amount of classroom space for the students. However, she didn't understand the necessity of the fly loft and asked what the hardship for the fly loft would be.

Mr. Savage explained that performing arts is a very big part of Bellaire High School, and that a fly loft is necessary for musical productions.

Board Member Karakowsky mentioned that with the reduction of the number of students, as well as the increase of height to 45 feet all along Valerie the height variance may not be necessary.

Mr. Gee informed the Board that the bond program specified a rebuild of Bellaire High School for 2,800 to 3,100 students, and that the school district would still need the variance even if the enrollment was reduced to 2,800.

Board Member Karakowsky mentioned that the site plan may evolve based upon the outcome of the public hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission and asked for an explanation of the finality of the plan.

Mr. Savage agreed that some changes may be made to the site plan based on comments heard during the public hearing, but reiterated that if the Board grants the variance for the two specific areas, the school district is going to stick to those two areas.

Board Member Mandel asked if an exhibit could be included, such as the diagram provided in the packet, with the variance which would detail specifically what heights were granted and what sections of the building they were granted for. He added that if changes were made to the site plan after the fact, the applicant would be required to come back before the Board for a additional public hearing.

Chairman Avioli agreed that there needs to be some way to regulate where the variances in height are allowed. He added that the Board should not grant a variance so generic that it would allow for the re-location of the increase in height.

Dan Bankhead, HISD-Mr. Bankhead mentioned that the words "centrally located" could be added as part of the condition.

Vice Chairman Almaguer suggested that a required setback from residential properties be included in order to specify where the height variances are allowed. She also asked if the building would be sprinkled and about parking.

**Mr. McDonald, Director of Development Services**-Mr. McDonald explained that all parking must be housed on site due to City regulations. He added that the hardship is in trying to build a school within a residentially zoned district. He agreed with the idea of coming up with a required setback from the street where the variances in height would be allowed.

Mr. Savage mentioned that he would like for a collegue of his, who was in the audience, to take a look at the diagram to see if he could come up with specific measurements that could be included as part of the variance.

Board Member Sinha asked the applicant what the hardship would be for needing more height in the learning center.

Mr. Savage explained that without the variance it would negatively impact the number of classrooms that could be built to accommodate the students.

Vice Chairman Almaguer asked if they could dig down deeper for the fly loft.

Mr. Savage explained that with the already existing drainage issues, that would not be something that they would want to do. He also mentioned that it costs a lot more money in order to go that route.

# vi. Consideration of, deliberation by, and action on Docket Item

At this time, the proposed setback measurements were provided to staff and copies of the diagram were being made. The Board made the decision to suspended the rules in order to hold the public hearing regarding the lot coverage, prior to voting on the variance for height.

After copies of the setback measurements were provided to each of the Board Members, and the public hearing regarding lot coverage was complete, the Board returned to the consideration and deliberation of the height variance.

**Motion:** a motion was made by Board Member Mandel and seconded by Board Member Stone to grant the variance based on the caveat that "Exhibit A" be entered with the Order, including the dimensions of where the height variances are allowed.

An amendment was offered by Board Member Karakowsky and seconded by Board Member Mandel to grant the variance of 60 feet on the Learning Center, with boundaries as shown on "Exhibit A," as well as 50 feet on the fly loft, with boundaries as shown on "Exhibit A."

**Vote:** the amended motion was carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0.

The Board then returned to the consideration and deliberation of the variance on lot coverage.

Docket # BOA-2017-02-Application for a variance request filed by Steven Gee, Project Manager, Houston Independent School, from Chapter 24, Planning and Zoning, Section 24-525 B. (1) g., to allow for a maximum lot coverage of 80% rather than the 50% currently allowed by code. The property is addressed as 5100 Maple Street, but is more commonly known as Bellaire High School. The school is located in the R-1 Zoning District.

#### i. Presentation by the Applicant

Mr. Savage explained that the school district is asking for an increase in lot coverage from the allowed amount of 50% to 80%. He reiterated that they are dealing with a very small site, and that all parking will be housed on the property. He explained that the sports field has been designed to contain artificial turf, which according to the City of Bellaire Code of Ordinances is considered impervious coverage and counts towards lot coverage on the site. He then showed a diagram of the existing lot coverage compared to the proposed lot coverage and informed the Board that the

current lot coverage on site is roughly 57%, which is not in compliance with the City's regulations. He then explained that the lot coverage at the former Gordon Elementary site would be decreased from approximately 32% to 23%, which the applicant is hoping to utilize as somewhat of a "credit" for the 5100 Maple site.

# ii. Presentation by the City

Ms. Sampson informed the Board that the applicant is requesting a variance from Sec. 24-525. School and churches in residential areas, B. (1) (g) of the City of Bellaire Code of Ordinances to exceed the maximum lot coverage regulations from the current 50% limit to 80%. She reiterated that the property is located at 5100 Maple and within the R-1 Zoning District. Ms. Sampson stated that in an effort to compensate for the variance it seeks, HISD is reducing impervious coverage at the offsite Gordon Elementary site, proposed to be developed as a baseball field. The development of the baseball field will only cover 23% of that site. She again reviewed each of the standards that must be present, and stated upon review and evaluation of the application, all four areas of the criteria are met. Ms. Sampson stated that the new design will improve traffic flow and water detention throughout the area. She added that it is the opinion of the Director of Development Services that the request is not in conflict with the standards as outlined in Article VII, Division 1, Section 24-704, and therefore no objections are offered to the granting of this variance.

iii. Public Comments: Names of those desiring to comment shall come from sign-up list and shall be limited to six (6) minutes per speaker, with extensions in two (2) minute increments as approved by majority vote of the Board members present.

**Todd Blitzer**-Mr. Blitzer stated that he has a background in architecture and is aware of what this type of project entails. He added that although many people may not necessarily trust the school district, they should trust their fellow members of the community who will continue to be involved and will hold the school district accountable for their promises. Mr. Blitzer mentioned that the drainage on site will include a subterranean structure which will be able to contain and detain water runoff. He added that having all parking on site limits the abilities of the site plan and requires such variances in order to be developable.

**Dave Upton, 5101 Valerie-**Mr. Upton stated that he is in favor of the height as long as it is locked in, but that the increase in lot coverage concerns him due to the drainage issues that are already in existence in that area of the City.

**Chris Young**-Mr. Young mentioned that detention drains will still have to pass into the sewer drains, which will back those systems up. He added that the logic of the "credit" for the decrease in lot coverage at the former Gordon Elementary is flawed, and that the applicant needs to figure out how to shift the buildings around for better use of the site.

**Lynn McBee**-Ms. McBee stated that just because the bond called for an enrollment of 2,800 to 3,100 students doesn't mean that the school district should go with the highest number possible. She felt that the maximum allowance should be 2,800 students. She then questioned whether grass crete would be an option.

# iv. Rebuttal by the Applicant

Mr. Savage explained that there will be an underground storm water detention system installed on the property, which will be a significant improvement compared

to what is there now. He added that grass crete, while it could be an option, poses many maintenance problems.

# v. Questions by the Board

Chairman Avioli asked how the decrease in lot coverage at the former Gordon Elementary site would help the residents surrounding the Bellaire High School site. He added that he was worried about run-off in the area.

Mr. McDonald reiterated that the system that will be installed will be an improvement on what is currently in existence there today and mentioned that the Board could add a condition requiring that the drainage capacity be increased to 5% over the required drainage.

Chairman Avioli asked if the City Engineer has been/will be involved in this process.

Mr. McDonald explained that James Andrews will review and approve the drainage prior to any permits being approved.

Board Member Raval asked what the lot coverage would be if the sports field was natural grass.

Mr. Savage stated that there would still be lot coverage of 67%.

Vice Chairman Almaguer agreed that she is also concerned about drainage and has spent thousands of dollars to install drains in her background. She suggested that the Board grant the variance for 67% lot coverage, as having an artificial turf field is not more important than the safety of the surrounding residents.

Board Member Karakowsky mentioned that there are higher standards to meet for the variance on lot coverage. She added that 80% is such as overshot of the 50% allowed by code.

Mr. Gee reiterated that the relocation of parking and vehicle queuing on site is the reasoning for the need to increase the lot coverage. He added that onsite parking is a requirement of the City of Bellaire and cannot be avoided.

Board Member Mandel stated that he has absolutely no problem with granting the variance for lot coverage. He agreed that the drainage system that will be installed will be a huge improvement to what is there now, and will most likely be able to take on run-off from residences surrounding the school as well.

Vice Chairman Almaguer maintained that the sports field should be natural grass, which would decrease the required lot coverage to 67%.

#### vi. Consideration of, deliberation by, and action on docket item

The Board then returned to the consideration of and deliberation on the height variance. Once the vote was taken on that item, the Board took the following action on the variance for lot coverage:

**Motion:** a motion was made by Board Member Mandel and seconded by Board Member to approve the variance for 80% lot coverage, as requested.

**Vote:** the motion failed with a 3-4 vote.

**Second Motion:** a second motion was made by Board Member Raval and seconded by Board Member Stone to grant a variance for 67% lot coverage.

**Amended Motion:** a amended motion was made by Vice Chairman Almaguer and seconded by Board Member Raval to include, as a condition, that the detenition system must be increased to 5% over the drainage requirement.

Vote on amended motion to include condition: 7-0.

**Vote on motion to grant 67% lot coverage**: 7-0.

The variance was granted for 67% lot coverage with the condition that the detention system be increased to 5% over the required drainage.

#### 9. GENERAL COMMENTS

(Limitations: Six (6) minutes per speaker with extensions in two (2) minute increments as approved by a majority vote of the Board Members present).

There were no general comments.

#### **10.GENERAL COMMENTS FROM BOARD MEMBERS**

Chairman Avioli stated that the meeting was very productive and that very good discussions were had. He thanked the Board for their preparation.

#### 11.ANNOUNCEMENTS

No announcements were made.

#### 12.ADJOURNMENT

**Motion:** a motion was made by Vice Chairman Almaguer and seconded by Board Member Raval to adjourn the regular meeting.

**Vote:** the motion carried on a unanimous vote of 7-0.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:13 PM.